

# Secondary use of health data in Nordic co-operation

Report 1.1 Value from Nordic health data – VALO project

14 November 2024



# **Document info**

#### 0.1 Authors

Author	Partner
Katrine Højen Vad (DK)	Danish Health Data Authority
Håvard Kolle Riis (NO)	Norwegian Institute of Public Health
Kirsi Suomalainen (FI)	The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Mari Mäkinen (FI)	Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare
Marja-Riitta Rautiainen (FI)	Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare
Markus Kalliola (FI)	The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Michel Silvestri (SE)	Swedish eHealth Agency
Nima Jokilaasko (FI)	The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Persephone Doupi (FI)	Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare
Rebekka Björg Guðmundsdóttir (IS)	Directorate of Health
Riikka Pohjankoski (FI)	The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Sigríður Haraldsdóttir Elínardóttir (IS)	Directorate of Health
Sofia Marin (FI)	The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Védís Helga Eiríksdóttir (IS)	Directorate of Health

#### 0.2 Keywords

Keywords	Health	data,	Nordic	collaboration,	EHDS,	Cross-border
	collabora	ation, Se	condary u	use of health data	, Health c	lata sources

#### Disclaimer

The content of this report represents the views of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the experts interviewed.

#### **Copyright Notice**

Copyright © 2024 VALO project partners and Nordic Council of Ministers. All rights reserved. For more information on the project, please see <u>project's website</u>.



# Contents

Executive summary	3
1 Introduction	4
1.1 General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)	4
1.2 European Health Data Space (EHDS)	
1.3 Value from Nordic Health Data (VALO)	7
2 The Nordic countries	8
2.1 Healthcare systems in the Nordic countries	8
2.2 Common themes across Nordic healthcare systems	
2.3 Complementary denominators of each Nordic country	
3 Health data sources in the Nordic countries	15
3.1 Population-based registries	15
3.2 Biobanks	17
3.3 Clinical quality registries	
3.4 Health Research Cohorts and Surveys	18
3.5 Claims data	19
3.6 Clinical Trials	19
4 Challenges with Nordic cooperation	20
4.1 Governance challenges	20
4.2 Legal and ethical challenges	21
4.3 Technical challenges	23
4.4 Summary of challenges	23
5 Value From Nordic Health Data: Future work	
References	25



## **Executive summary**

This report examines the current state, challenges, and opportunities for enhancing Nordic cooperation in the secondary use of health data. The Nordic countries possess a unique advantage in this domain, sharing many strengths that position them well for collaboration, such as: comprehensive population-based health registries with data collected over long periods, unique personal identification numbers (PINs) enabling data linkage, high levels of public trust and willingness to participate in research, and similar healthcare systems with shared values around data protection.

Despite these advantages, the rich datasets of the Nordic countries are currently underutilised for research, healthcare improvements, and innovation. Several challenges hinder fuller cooperation, including legal and regulatory fragmentation across countries, complex and time-consuming data access procedures, lack of standardisation in data formats and systems, ethical concerns around consent and privacy protection, and institutional barriers to data sharing.

However, significant opportunities exist to strengthen the Nordics' position as leaders in health data utilisation, particularly in light of the forthcoming European Health Data Space (EHDS). These include supporting use of secure federated solutions for both national and cross-border data processing, establishing common ethical frameworks and governance models, developing shared metadata standards according to the FAIR principles, building competencies in AI and data science, and fostering public-private partnerships for innovation.

Realising this potential will require coordinated policy efforts across the Nordic region. Key actions include harmonising relevant legislation and regulations, streamlining data access procedures, and promoting skills development and knowledge sharing.

By addressing these challenges and capitalising on their unique strengths, the Nordic countries can unlock the full value of their collective health data resources. This would significantly advance medical research, improve healthcare delivery, drive innovation, and ultimately lead to better health outcomes across the region. The implementation of these strategies has the potential to not only maintain but significantly strengthen the Nordic countries' position as global leaders in the secondary use of health data, setting a model for international collaboration in this important field.



4

# **1** Introduction

The purpose of this report is to review and analyse the literature on secondary use of health data in Nordic cooperation, with the aim of identifying:

- 1. Potential gaps in knowledge and infrastructure, including technical, semantic, legal, and governance aspects.
- 2. Strengths and challenges that are common for the Nordic countries.
- 3. Unique strengths and/or weaknesses of each Nordic country.
- 4. Complementary societal factors that influence health data cooperation.
- 5. Commonalities and dissimilarities that affect Nordic cooperation.

This report aims to provide a comprehensive analysis of the current state of Nordic cooperation in the secondary use of health data, with a specific focus on research, innovation, and policymaking. Our scope encompasses the five Nordic countries: Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden. We examine the existing health data infrastructure and collaborative initiatives across these nations. Health data infrastructure refers to the comprehensive system that enables secure storage, sharing, access, and analysis of health-related data across organisations and countries. Additionally, health data infrastructure incorporates technical, legal, semantic, and organisational components to facilitate research and innovation while protecting privacy. (1) The report's primary objective is to identify the challenges as well as the opportunities in enhancing Nordic cooperation for secondary use of health data, particularly in light of the forthcoming European Health Data Space (EHDS). By analysing the current landscape, we aim to offer insights which will serve as a basis for future recommendations to strengthen the Nordic region's forerunner position in the utilisation of health data. While we touch upon primary use of health data where relevant, the main focus remains on secondary use applications.

While we acknowledge the essential role of patient engagement, perspectives, and diverse patient associations as drivers for change in healthcare innovation and data utilisation, these aspects remain outside the scope of this report. Similarly, we recognise the contribution of innovative companies in increasing quality, efficiency, and creating growth. However, these perspectives, while valuable, are not the primary focus of this analysis.

Our goal is to provide a focused examination of the current state, challenges, and opportunities in Nordic cooperation for secondary use of health data, with the aim of informing future initiatives and policies in this rapidly evolving field.

## 1.1 General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)

Health data is utilised for research, development and innovation. Health data is considered sensitive personal data and is strictly regulated within each Nordic country, as well as across the European region. (2) To address the need for consistent data protection across Europe, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) was introduced. The GDPR was approved by the European Parliament and entered into force in 2016, with a two-year transition period.



As European Union (EU) members, Denmark, Finland, and Sweden were required to apply the GDPR from May 25, 2018. (2–6) For Iceland and Norway, being a part of the European Economic Area (EEA) but not the EU, the process was slightly different. The GDPR was incorporated into the EEA Agreement on July 6, 2018, after which it became applicable in these countries as well. (2) To implement and supplement the GDPR, each Nordic country enacted or updated national legislation in 2018. Denmark and Sweden introduced new Data Protection Acts to complement the GDPR, effective from May 25, 2018. Finland enacted its Data Protection Act slightly later, on December 5, 2018. (2) Norway incorporated the GDPR through the Norwegian Personal Data Act of June 15, 2018, (7) and Iceland through its national data protection law of July 15, 2018 to align with the GDPR. (8) These national laws serve to specify and supplement the GDPR's provisions within each country's legal framework. They often provide additional conditions or safeguards for processing sensitive data like health information, which is particularly relevant given the Nordic countries' extensive health data resources. (3) The GDPR aims to ensure consistent data protection across the EU countries by removing discrepancies among EU member states. It seeks to protect the fundamental rights and freedoms of individuals by establishing rules for processing personal data. With this, the EU aims to prevent unauthorised access and processing of personal data, enhancing trust in the digital environment. (6)

The GDPR presents several limitations regarding the secondary use of health data. The GDPR lacks a comprehensive framework specifically tailored to health data. (9) Its emphasis on purpose limitation and data minimisation (i.e. to minimise privacy leakage) can create barriers for research and innovation, where health data may need to be used for purposes not initially specified. (6,9) Additionally, the varying implementation of GDPR across EU and EEA countries has complicated access to electronic health data for research, innovation and policymaking at both national and cross-border level. This poses challenges for pan-Nordic collaboration, requiring legal expertise in multiple countries. (9,10) The regulation's strict consent requirements can also hinder the use of historical data or large-scale data analysis where obtaining individual consent may be impractical. (9,10) Furthermore, GDPR doesn't provide clear guidelines on anonymisation or pseudonymisation standards for health data, which is crucial for secondary use. (6,9) GDPR allows for processing of health data promoting public health, but it does not offer a detailed framework for balancing individual privacy rights with the potential societal benefits of health data research. (9)

The interpretation and implementation of GDPR criteria can vary between data controllers and countries, leading to inconsistencies in data access procedures. (9,10) This has resulted in what some researchers describe as an "extra burden" of compliance, with the prospect of large institutional fines for non-compliance. (10,11) Finally, the GDPR's requirements for data protection impact assessments and the involvement of data protection officers can add complexity and potential delays to collaborative projects. (10)

These limitations have contributed to uncertainties and inconsistencies in how health data can be used for secondary purposes across the EU, possibly hampering the potential benefits of secondary health data use, such as improved health research, innovation, policymaking, better health outcomes, and engagement for patients.



6

## 1.2 European Health Data Space (EHDS)

The EU is developing the European Health Data Space (EHDS) to address cross-border data use barriers in healthcare, creating a cohesive and interoperable framework for efficient and secure use of health data across the EU, for both primary and secondary purposes. (12) EHDS is the first European regulation to propose the establishment of a domain-specific common European data space. It will address challenges in electronic health data access and sharing and be an integral part of building a European Health Union. (9,13) The EHDS will make it possible for researchers, innovators, and policy makers to use electronic health data in a trusted and secure way that preserves privacy. One general objective of the EHDS is to ensure that individuals in the EU countries have better control over their electronic health data. (1,9,12) In addition, the EHDS provides a legal framework for a trusted EU and Member State governance mechanism and specification for secure processing environments (SPEs). This will allow researchers, innovators, policymakers and regulators at EU and Member State levels to access relevant electronic health data to improve diagnostic accuracy, treatment and well-being of natural persons, leading to more informed policies. By harmonising rules, it will also enhance the efficiency of healthcare systems. (9)

The EHDS regulation (9,13) addresses both primary use and secondary use of health data, recognising their distinct yet interconnected roles in improving healthcare and driving innovation. Primary use of health data refers to its direct application in individual patient care. This includes data stored in electronic health records, patient summaries, ePrescriptions, and other medical documents used to support or provide healthcare delivery to individuals from which the data stem. Regarding primary use of health data, the EHDS aims to empower citizens by giving them greater control over their data and ensuring it can follow them across borders. This improves the continuity of care and supports free movement within the EU, as well as promoting interoperability to ensure seamless data sharing between healthcare providers.

Secondary use of health data involves the broader application of health data beyond direct patient care. This encompasses using individual-level or aggregated datasets for research, innovation, policymaking, and regulatory activities. (13) The EHDS regulation outlines specific purposes for secondary use of health data, including activities for public health and occupational health, supporting regulatory tasks. It also includes producing health-related statistics, education in healthcare sectors, scientific research, development and innovation of health products and services, training and evaluation of AI algorithms in healthcare, and providing personalised healthcare based on data from other individuals. (9) The scope of secondary use of data is much wider as compared to primary use of data. It includes not just electronic health records but also claims data, administrative healthcare registries, disease registries, genetic information, and relevant social data. The EHDS seeks to create a consistent and efficient framework for secondary use by facilitating access to valuable health data for researchers, innovators, and policymakers while maintaining strong data protection safeguards. It proposes establishment of a network of national Health Data Access Bodies (HDABs) and development of an infrastructure for secure data sharing and processing. (13) The utilisation of secondary use of data offers advantages like availability, time and cost savings, large sample sizes, reduced biases, and opportunities for record linkage. However,



it has disadvantages, including lack of control over data quality, difficulty in validation, incomplete coverage, accessibility and cost issues, and missing information on potential confounding variables. While secondary use of data enhances statistical power and generalisability, especially in epidemiological research, researchers must consider its limitations in data validity, reliability, and completeness. (14)

By addressing both primary and secondary use of health data, the EHDS aims to unlock the full potential of health data in Europe. It seeks to improve healthcare delivery through better primary use of data, while also fostering innovation and supporting evidence-based policy making through enhanced secondary use. This dual approach recognises that while protecting individual privacy and control over personal health data is paramount, there is also immense societal and economic value in aggregating and analysing health data at a population level. (13) The EHDS thus represents a comprehensive attempt to balance these different uses of health data, aiming to create a framework that protects individual rights while also enabling the broader societal and economic benefits that can come from responsible data sharing and analyses of data in the health sector.

Specifically, regarding the secondary use of health data, the EHDS aims to strengthen research, innovation and policymaking across Europe by providing a consistent, trustworthy, and efficient system for reusing health data. (9,15)

## 1.3 Value from Nordic Health Data (VALO)

The Nordic Council of Ministers supports the VALO (Value from Nordic Health Data) project to establish common Nordic principles for implementing the EHDS regulation and to explore ways to maximise the benefits of Nordic cooperation in research, development, and innovation. The project aims to reinforce the Nordic countries' leadership and competitiveness in this field. The VALO project will enhance cross-border Nordic cooperation in the secondary use of health data and jointly prepare the Nordic countries for implementing the EHDS legislation. (16)

Building on this regional collaboration, the Baltic countries have recently joined the VALO project as observers. Through their participation in a competence forum, they will contribute to joint preparations for implementing the EHDS legislation, further strengthening the regional approach to health data management.

This initiative will allow the Nordic countries to share experiences and advice, leading to improved research, development, and innovation opportunities. As a result, the Nordic region will move towards becoming the most integrated area in the world, serving as a model for others and providing better healthcare, treatments and medications for its citizens. The Nordic countries excel in the quality and secure use of their social and health data registries, which have been compiled over many years. The use of personal identifiers facilitates the linking of data from various registries. Additionally, the Nordic countries were early adopters of electronic health record systems. (2) By sharing best practices, standardising methodologies, leveraging digital tools, and addressing common challenges collaboratively, Nordic countries can enhance the quality and comprehensiveness of strategies within Nordic collaborative projects. (17)



# 2 The Nordic countries

The Nordic countries, home to over 27 million inhabitants, (18) have long been recognised for their shared commitment to social welfare, equality and sustainability. (17,19,20) This dedication extends to their healthcare systems, which are for the most part characterised by welfare state, with tax-funded healthcare and a low out-of-pocket spending. (2,10,19) These similarities have enabled the creation of comprehensive population-wide health data collection systems that yield comparable datasets across national borders.

## 2.1 Healthcare systems in the Nordic countries

Denmark's healthcare system is primarily and publicly funded and organised through state, regions and municipalities. Private operators contribute alongside public institutions to maintain and develop the system. (2,21) Denmark has advanced digital infrastructure, including electronic medical records (e-journals) accessible through www.sundhed.dk and a Joint Medicine Card system containing medication information. (2) The country maintains several registries and biobanks for health data storage, both public and private. Denmark has well-established digitalised registries practices with extensive nationwide data coverage. (2,21)

Finland's healthcare system is constitutionally mandated and, after the recent launch of the national service reform implementation (22), based on social welfare and healthcare services from 21 wellbeing services counties with state funding. The system features both public and private service providers operating in parallel, with multiple governmental agencies and organisations participating. Finland has comprehensive high-quality information resources and advanced digital services provision, supported through the extensive Kanta services system. (23) Additionally, the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) serves as a statistical authority and produces statistics in the field of social welfare and healthcare to support decision-making, development, and research. THL also maintains and develops a large selection of national-level registers and population surveys, making part of their content available as open data or providing them for research, development and innovation (RDI) activities, either directly or through Findata's application process (24). Finland stands out for having established the Act on the Secondary Use of Health and Social Data, (25) and Findata in 2019 as a centralised access point for health and social data for secondary use, making Finland the most advanced Nordic country in terms of health data management and access. (2)

Iceland's healthcare system is mostly publicly funded, with the state guaranteeing necessary health services regardless of individual financial standing. The Minister of Health directs health affairs, with healthcare institutions and other bodies under the Ministry playing vital roles. Private providers operate alongside the public sector. Iceland has comprehensive information resources with electronic records and uses interconnected health information systems. The country has succeeded in implementing a nationwide uniform medical record system, and health data exists for most citizens throughout their lifetime due to low emigration rates. (2) Iceland has numerous nationwide health registries, most of which are managed under the responsibility of the Directorate of Health.

Norway's healthcare system features state responsibility for overall provision, with municipalities responsible for primary health/social care and specialist care provided through the Ministry of Healthcare Services via hospitals. The system includes several governmental agencies/organisations in the public sector, complemented by private health service providers. All providers must keep electronic medical records. Norway maintains several significant sources of health data, including biobanks, registries, and national health surveys. The system emphasises both state oversight and local delivery of services. (2)

Sweden's healthcare system operates on three administrative levels: government, 21 regional bodies, and 290 municipalities. The regional bodies are primarily responsible for organising and funding healthcare, while municipalities handle elderly and disabled care. The system is mainly financed by regional and municipality taxes with government subsidies. The Ministry of Health and Social Affairs establishes principles and guidelines. Sweden has a long tradition of digital health data documentation and uses both primary information sources (medical records) and secondary sources (registries, biobanks). The system balances central oversight with regional autonomy in healthcare delivery. (2)

## 2.2 Common themes across Nordic healthcare systems

The Nordic healthcare systems share fundamental characteristics that reflect their common societal values and approaches to healthcare delivery, overview provided in Table 1. These systems are predominantly publicly funded through state, regional, and municipal sources, supporting the core principle of universal access to healthcare regardless of individual financial standing. (2)

The Nordic countries also share a high level of digitalisation in their healthcare systems and have a similar focus on innovation in healthcare systems. They all rely heavily on electronic health records and have made significant strides towards implementation of integrated digital health infrastructure, allowing increased data accessibility. Moreover, the Nordics are actively working towards incorporating AI and automation in healthcare processes, as well as initiatives to improve data standardisation across different health registries and systems. (20,26,27) The shared commitment to technological advancement, combined with similar system structures, facilitate cross-border collaboration and knowledge sharing. This common foundation positions the Nordic region as a potential leader in healthcare innovation, especially in health data utilisation and digital healthcare solutions. (2)

All the Nordic countries demonstrate a strong commitment to leveraging health data for innovation and research and share significant similarities in their approach to health data management and access. Across these nations, health data is considered highly sensitive, and data minimisation is a key principle, entailing that data collected must be sufficient, relevant, and restricted to what is essential for its intended purpose, and researchers must provide justification for their data requests. (2,28) Additionally, access to health data is strictly regulated. This stems from a shared commitment to protect individual privacy and maintain professional secrecy in healthcare. (2,10) This is supported by advanced legal frameworks that aims to balance data protection with the need for scientific research and healthcare improvement. (2,10)



A key common denominator, central to the Nordic healthcare systems, is the use of unique personal identity numbers (PIN) assigned to each resident at birth or upon immigration. The PIN is unique to every individual, and it remains with them throughout their life (except in rare cases, e.g. gender reassignment). Typically, PINs comprise 10 or 11 digits, with the first six digits representing the date of birth. (19,29–35) The PINs are primarily utilised for administrative purposes (i.e. healthcare systems, schools, banks, etc.), and were originally introduced to manage and monitor tax payments. Although the PINs were implemented at various times across the region (1947 in Sweden, 1954 in Iceland [1987 in its current form], 1964 in Finland and Norway, 1968 in Denmark) (29–35) they are indispensable tools as key identifiers across all registries and databases, making individual-level linking within each country simple, precise and clear. Therefore, they are crucial for utilising registry data to its full potential. (10,19,36)

A distinctive feature of Nordic societies is the high level of trust that citizens place in their institutions and their strong willingness to engage in research. This is evident in the healthcare sector, where more than 73% of residents in Nordic countries within the EU are open to sharing personal information for advancing healthcare and research, compared to less than 30% in some other European nations. (36–38)

Lastly, there is a shared recognition across the Nordic region of the immense value of collaborative health research utilising the extensive health data resources available. All these countries are involved in various Nordic and international research initiatives, leveraging their collective data resources and expertise to tackle complex health challenges. (2)

These common denominators create a unique ecosystem for health research and innovation in the Nordic region. The shared values, similar healthcare systems, and collective commitment to leveraging health data position the Nordic countries as a powerful collaborative force in the global health research landscape.



Characteristic	Nordic Similarities	Nordic Uniqueness Compared to Rest of Europe
Health Data Resources	Extensive, high-quality health registries with long-term data (some dating back to the 1960s) (19,39)	More comprehensive and longer-term data collection than most European countries (19)
Personal Identification	Unique personal identification numbers (PINs) used across all registries and databases (10,19,36)	Facilitates easier and more accurate data linkage across various health and social datasets (19)
Public Trust	High levels of trust in institutions and willingness to participate in research (>73% open to sharing health data) (36– 38)	Significantly higher than in some other European nations (<30% in some cases) (37)
Healthcare Systems	Similar tax-funded healthcare systems with low out-of-pocket spending (2,10,19,36)	Facilitates more comprehensive population health data collection
Data Linkage	Ability to link health data with other types of data (e.g., socioeconomic) (10,19,36)	Provides richer, more contextual datasets for research (19)
Biobanks	Well-established biobanks with some collections dating back to the 1970s (2)	Offers unique historical perspectives on health trends
Population Size	Significant combined population size (27 million) (1,18)	Large enough for meaningful studies, including on rare diseases, while still manageable (1,19)
Cultural and Social Similarities	Shared commitment to social welfare, equality, and sustainability (17,19,20)	Creates a more homogeneous environment for health research and policy implementation
Digital Adoption	Early adopters of electronic health record systems	Potentially more advanced in digital health infrastructure
Legal and Ethical Frameworks	Similar legislative frameworks and shared values around data protection (2,36)	Facilitates easier collaboration and data sharing within the Nordic region

**Table 1.** Nordic similarities compared to the rest of European countries.

## 2.3 Complementary denominators of each Nordic country

While the Nordic countries share many similarities in their approach to health data management, each nation has also developed unique features that contribute to the overall richness of the Nordic health data landscape. These individual strengths, combined with shared characteristics, position the Nordic region as a valuable resource for health data research and innovation.



Denmark stands out with its advanced digital health infrastructure and well-established systems for facilitating access to health data. Danish health data is collected, stored and managed in national health registries at the Danish Health Data Authority. The country has developed a national data catalogue and a researcher machine, Forskermaskinen, that enables simultaneous access to data from several registries. Currently the processing time for applications is around 30 business days. (10) This sophisticated infrastructure could potentially benefit cross-border collaborations by providing easy access to comprehensive data. However, Denmark faces a significant challenge in its strict legal restrictions on transferring data out of the country. (2,10) This limitation often requires other Nordic countries to transfer their data to Denmark for joint studies, rather than vice versa, which can complicate collaborative efforts.

Additionally, the Danish National Hospital Medication Register (Sygehusmedicinregisteret) represents a unique advancement in healthcare data integration, as it enables the comprehensive tracking of both in-patient and out-patient drug use at the patient level. (40,41) This distinctive feature allows researchers to merge hospital drug utilisation data with detailed patient characteristics, creating unprecedented opportunities for healthcare analysis. This comprehensive data linkage capability across all national health registries and other registry data in Denmark makes the system particularly valuable for various applications. (40) The register's establishment in 2017 and subsequent implementation in 2018 has created one of the most complete and integrated medication tracking systems available for research purposes. (41)

Pharmaceutical studies in Denmark leverage extensive health data to drive innovation and improve patient outcomes. A prime example is Novo Nordisk, a leading global healthcare company based in Denmark. Novo Nordisk utilises data from the Danish National Diabetes Register to conduct research on diabetes management and treatment. This registry provides comprehensive data on patient outcomes, enabling the company to develop and refine insulin therapies and other diabetes treatments. (42)

Finland has taken a pioneering approach by implementing specific legislation for secondary use of health and social data, including its use for innovational and developmental purposes. (2,25) The establishment of Findata (the Finnish Social and Health Data Permit Authority), a centralised authority for health data access, serves as a single point of contact for data from multiple controllers, which could significantly streamline cross-border research processes. (2,43) Findata has already shortened the time from approved data permit to data provided to 60 business days (43) as compared to 16 months in some cases before. (44)

To support transparency and accessibility, Finland maintains a national health metadata catalogue (Aineistokatalogi / Data Resources Catalogue). (45) In accordance with Findata's Regulation on data descriptions, all data falling under the Secondary Use Act must be documented in this catalogue, providing researchers and stakeholders with comprehensive metadata about available health data resources. (46)

Additionally, the Finnish biobank system demonstrates a unique capability for conducting recall studies, as evident by the FinnGen pilot clinical recall study (47) and the TWINGEN protocol. (48) Finland's robust legal framework, comprehensive health registries, and long-

term cohort studies create an ideal environment for longitudinal research, with the FinnGen pilot achieving a 19% participation rate despite challenging circumstances (SARS-CoV-2 outbreak). (47) The TWINGEN study builds on this foundation, leveraging decades of follow-up data from the Finnish Twin Cohort and genome-wide genotyping data to explore complex health conditions, e.g. Alzheimer's disease. (48) This highlights the feasibility of remote assessments and the use of blood-based biomarkers, potentially improving screening efficiency for various diseases. (47,48) The success of these recall studies demonstrates the potential of biobanks to accelerate medical research by facilitating the identification and recruitment of specific population subgroups for studies and trials, underscoring the value of comprehensive biobank infrastructures in driving precision medicine initiatives and potentially improving early detecting and intervention strategies for a wide range of health conditions.

Iceland's highly centralised state healthcare system is unique among the Nordic countries, (19) which could potentially offer advantages in terms of data consistency and accessibility for cross-border collaborations.

Iceland has a solid legal basis where nation-wide health-related databases and registers are organised and maintained by the Directorate of Health (DoH). A key responsibility of the DoH, as mandated by law, is to systematically gather, analyse, store, and share healthcare data. (49,50) This enables effective service monitoring, quality assurance, and medical research. (50)

Iceland's unique position as an isolated island nation has created a valuable resource for genetic research. The country's small, relatively stable population descends from a limited number of ancestors, resulting in a more uniform genetic makeup compared to larger, more diverse populations. This genetic homogeneity makes it easier for researchers to identify genes associated with diseases. Despite its small size, Iceland's population is large enough to study a wide range of common European diseases, yet small enough to conduct comprehensive genetic studies efficiently. (51) This unique combination allows scientists to more easily uncover genetic factors contributing to complex diseases, making Iceland's genetic data a powerful complement to the broader Nordic health data landscape. The country's extensive genealogical records and centralised healthcare system further enhance the value of this genetic resource, positioning Iceland as a key player in advancing genetic research in the region.

However, Iceland's small population size may potentially present a challenge in cross-border Nordic research collaborations. Other Nordic countries may hesitate to undergo a complex application process for access to Icelandic data, given the relatively small number of additional participants it would provide. This may affect Iceland's inclusion in some largescale Nordic studies.

Norway has established Helsedataservice as the Norwegian National Data Permit Authority. (52) Serving to both users of health data and health registries, Helsedataservice represents a major step towards streamlining data access for researchers, health analysis, and other health related projects. The national health data portal helsedata.no, offers a unified application process for accessing health information from various Norwegian health authorities. The platform's variable explorer allows researchers to search and explore

variables across multiple health data sources, facilitating more efficient study design. Additionally, helsedata.no provides detailed guidance on application processes for both personally identifiable and anonymous information. This centralised approach could facilitate cross-border research by streamlining data access processes. (10,53) From 1 January 2024, Helsedataservice and all the National health registries were gathered in the Norwegian Institute for Public Health. This was an important organisational change made by the Ministry of Health and Care Service to increase the utilisation of health data.

Norsk helsenett, Norway's national e-health service provider, plays a pivotal role in connecting Norwegian health services through secure and efficient digital solutions. Its core responsibilities include managing the National Health Network – a secure digital arena for healthcare operators to exchange patient information safely – as well as administering national e-health solutions on behalf of the Ministry of Health and Care Services. Operating on the values of curiosity, drive, and care, Norsk helsenett aims to ensure that both citizens and healthcare providers have timely access to essential patient information, advancing Norway's digitalisation goals in the health and care sector. (54)

However, the Norwegian Patient Registry first included PINs from 2008 and onwards, which might limit its utility in long-term cross-border studies requiring individual-level data linkage over extended periods. (19)

Sweden's system of National Quality Registries is a pioneering initiative in healthcare quality monitoring and improvement. With more than 100 registries collecting individualised data on medical interventions, procedures, and outcomes, this system provides real-time insights into the effectiveness of various healthcare practices. These registries, supported by healthcare professionals and patient representatives, have contributed significantly to Sweden's outstanding healthcare outcomes, particularly in areas such as heart attack and stroke survival, cancer treatment, and specialised care like diabetes management and hip replacement surgery. Beyond improving patient care, the registries also drive innovation, patient-centred approaches, and decision support tools. The vision for these registries is to integrate them actively into continuous learning, improvement, research, and management processes, ultimately aiming to create the best possible health and care outcomes in collaboration with individual patients. (55)

Another category of registries could be seen as infrastructural research data bases such as the Swedish Twin Registry, which is a population-based individual database with information on twins maintained by Karolinska Institutet (KI) since the 1960s. (56) The registry is maintained on the basis of an ethical review permit. Another such example is the LifeGene registry, also kept by KI. (57) These registries have both been maintained for more than a decade under the temporary Act on Certain Registers for Research on the Significance of Heredity and the Environment for Human Health. There is also a special secrecy regulation in the Public Access to Information and Secrecy Act (58) for research databases maintained under that Act. As result of a number of inquiries, the Swedish Government has recently presented to the National Parliament the Government Bill 2024/25:19 for long-term regulation of certain research databases such as the above.



In some regions in Sweden, patients can refer themselves to hospital specialists by completing an online form, after which a hospital specialist determines if they will see the patient without needing a referral from a general practitioner. (19) Sweden has also taken steps towards centralising, on regional level, data access e.g. through the Region Stockholm's Centre for Health Data (10) or through the National Genomics Platform. However, the lack of a legal requirement for electronic medical records or a shared national system might complicate data harmonisation efforts in cross-border studies. (19)

While each Nordic country has unique strengths that could enhance cross-border collaboration in health data research, they also face individual challenges. Addressing these country-specific issues, alongside shared challenges, will be crucial in fully realising the potential of Nordic cross-border health data collaboration. The Nordic countries collectively demonstrate different approaches to health data management. Finland and Denmark stand out with their centralised data systems (Findata and Forskermaskinen respectively), while Sweden's strength lies in its comprehensive national quality registries. Iceland contributes unique genetic research capabilities through its homogeneous population data, and Norway advances towards centralisation through Helsedata. The combination of national variations in infrastructure and resources, with all five countries sharing core characteristics, makes the Nordic region particularly valuable for health data research and innovation. (2)

## **3** Health data sources in the Nordic countries

Nordic health research shows great promise, with collaborative efforts having the potential to achieve scientific breakthroughs that might be unattainable individually. Through collaboration the Nordic countries can significantly enhance the quality and scope of health research due to the pooling of large, diverse datasets, which improves the statistical power and generalisability of research findings, as the NordSOUND study has shown. (59)

The Nordic countries have similar health data sources in each country for secondary use in research and innovation. The different categories of health data can generally be divided into registry data from population-based registries collected mainly for statistical purposes, clinical quality registries in healthcare, biobank data collected mostly for healthcare purposes but also in research, and data from public health studies. The institutions responsible for the data may reside in the healthcare systems or governmental agencies, at universities, in tech or genome centres, or in the pharma industry.

By leveraging the Nordic region's collective expertise and resources, these countries can lead innovations in preventive healthcare, health technology assessments, and personalised medicine. Furthermore, such collaboration can streamline the sharing of best practices and successful interventions across borders, ultimately leading to improved health outcomes for their populations.

## 3.1 Population-based registries

Population-based registries are vital tools in epidemiological research, offering comprehensive, longitudinal data on health and diseases across entire populations. The

Nordic region is well-known for having strong comprehensive health records, which provide unique opportunities for high-quality, population-based research. (19,39)

Many population-based health registries were established in the 1960s, utilising unique PINs to facilitate linkage between different data sources. By using PINs to link data from various sources, it facilitates comprehensive longitudinal studies that track individuals' health trajectories over time. (39,60) This capability is particularly valuable for studies requiring detailed information on various health aspects, such as the interplay between different diseases or the effects of medication on long-term health outcomes. Moreover, the pooling of registry data across Nordic countries presents a unique opportunity to study rare outcomes in connection with rare exposures. This approach leverages the large size of combined registries, increasing the precision of estimates and enabling researchers to investigate health phenomena that would be challenging to study in smaller populations or individual countries along. (19)

The population-based nature of these registries ensures virtually complete follow-up of the populations they serve, providing extensive coverage, and reduces selection bias. The longitudinal aspect enables researchers to track health outcomes over extended periods, providing insights into disease progression and the long-term effects of treatments and interventions. (19)

Despite their strengths, population-based registries also have limitations, particularly concerning data quality. The validity and completeness of certain variables can vary, which directly impacts the reliability and utility of the data for epidemiological and public health research. (19) Validity in health registries is commonly defined in terms of the positive predictive value (PPV), which measures the proportion of true cases among those identified in the registry. To avoid misclassification and errors that can distort research findings, it is important to assess and ensure the validity of the registry data. (19,61) Completeness, often equated with sensitivity, refers to the proportion of all actual cases that are recorded in a registry. It is a measure of how comprehensively the registry captures the events or conditions it is supposed to track. (19,61) Both validity and completeness are critical for ensuring the quality and reliability of health registry data. (19,61) To address these limitations and enhance the robustness of research findings, ongoing validation studies, detailed knowledge of data production processes, and the integration of supplementary data sources are essential. By implementing these strategies, researchers can enhance the robustness of their findings, ultimately contributing to better public health outcomes through more reliable epidemiological research. (19,61)

In summary, Nordic health registries provide extensive longitudinal data and allow for data linkage, supporting robust epidemiological studies. (39) They offer opportunities for conducting large-scale, population-based research with complete follow-up, providing comprehensive data on various health aspects. These registries routinely and prospectively collect data on individuals' lives and health, making them invaluable resources for epidemiological research. (19)



#### 3.2 Biobanks

Biobanks are organised collections of human biological samples and associated data used for research purposes. (62) They contain samples of the human body, such as blood, tissues and DNA, along with linked health and demographic information about the donors. (63,64) The Nordic countries have all established biobanks leveraging the unique advantages of these countries' healthcare systems and population registries. (1) Some Nordic biobanks have data collections dating back to the 1970s, offering unique historical perspectives on health trends and outcomes. (2) A notable example includes deCODE genetics, a private company located in Iceland, which has gathered health data from over 160,000 Icelandic volunteers and is a global leader in analysing and understanding the human genome. (2) Similarly Finland's Finngen project, a large public-private partnership, has collected and analysed genome and health data from almost 500,000 Finnish biobank donors. (65)

Nordic biobanks offer several key advantages for research. The combined population across the Nordic countries provides a unique asset for studying rare diseases and disease subgroups. (1) Nordic biobanks benefit from high-quality data due to comprehensive population coverage and standardised collection methods. (2,63) The ability to link biobank data with national health registries, socioeconomic data, and electronic health records creates rich datasets for research. (63) Additionally, there is strong public trust and willingness to participate in biobank research in the Nordic countries. (14) The regulated nature of biobanks ensures ethical use of data, typically requiring donor consent (with some exceptions, such as Iceland's opt out system for public biobanks) and following established access procedures. (2) These factors collectively position the Nordic region as potentially world-leading in health research and innovation using biobank resources.

Despite their advantages, Nordic biobanks face some challenges. Differences in national legislation and ethical frameworks across Nordic countries can complicate cross-border sharing and use of biobank data. (1) Strict regulations, while crucial for protecting individual privacy, can significantly hinder the utilisation of biobanks, especially for innovative or commercial applications. (2) A consent-based model could limit the use of samples for purposes not originally anticipated, which is problematic in the rapidly evolving field of biomedical research. (2) Anonymisation requirements, while protecting donor privacy, can limit the utility of biobank data for certain types of analyses. (2) The process of accessing biobank data is often time-consuming, involving multiple steps and approvals, which can deter researchers and innovators. (1,2)

A significant disadvantage of biobanks is their long-term financial sustainability. Maintaining and preserving biological samples and associated data over extended periods is extremely costly. (64) Biobanks face ongoing expenses for equipment, personnel, facility maintenance, and data management systems. (63) Finding a sustainable business model that balances affordability for researchers with the operational costs of biobanks remains a major challenge. (1) Many biobanks rely heavily on public funding or grants, which can be unpredictable and insufficient for long-term sustainability. (64) Some biobanks have explored cost recovery models, where users pay fees for samples and services, but setting appropriate fee structures that do not overly burden researchers while covering expenses is difficult. (63) The



lack of a widely accepted, sustainable funding model threatens the long-term viability of many biobanks and their ability to serve as crucial resources for medical research. (1)

Nordic biobanks represent a valuable resource for health research and potential innovation, offering unique advantages due to their comprehensive coverage, data linkage capabilities, and high-quality data. However, they also face significant challenges, particularly in balancing privacy protection with data accessibility and usability. Moving forward, the key will be finding ways to maintain robust privacy protections while increasing the accessibility of biobank data for a wider range of beneficial purposes, including innovation and development in healthcare. (1,2)

## 3.3 Clinical quality registries

Clinical quality registries (so-called quality registries) are databases containing individualbased information on diagnoses, treatments, and outcomes for specific patient groups or medical conditions. These registries serve as valuable tools for measuring, monitoring, and improving the quality of healthcare services across the Nordic region. (66,67) The development and centralisation of quality registry systems in the Nordic countries varies. Sweden (67,68) and Denmark (69) have the most developed national quality registry systems, with Norway following closely behind. (70) In 2022, Finland had built up nine national quality registries. (71) Iceland on the other hand, relies on various health registries that can be used for quality improvement purposes. (66)

The quality registries offer significant advantages, providing valuable data for healthcare quality improvement and research. They enable comparisons between healthcare providers and regions, facilitating the identification of best practices. (66) Additionally, quality registries serve as important resources for research and innovation. (66,67)

However, several challenges persist in utilising quality registry data effectively across the Nordic region. Decentralised information structures in many Nordic countries make it difficult to obtain a comprehensive overview of available data. The lack of standardisation and interoperability between different registries further complicates data utilisation. Additionally, the process of accessing data for research or innovation is often hindered by the need for additional permits from ethics committees or data protection authorities. (66) A significant challenge is the lack of specific regulation for using registry data for innovation purposes, as opposed to research, in most Nordic countries. (2) Finland has made notable progress in addressing some of these challenges by establishing Findata, a centralised authority that coordinates data access requests across multiple registries. (2)

Despite these challenges, quality registries remain a valuable resource in the Nordic countries. Realising their full potential for healthcare improvement, research, and innovation will require addressing issues around data access, standardisation, and governance.

## 3.4 Health Research Cohorts and Surveys

Health research cohorts and surveys are vital tools for health-related information from a sample of the population, typically through questionnaires, interviews, or clinical measurements. These types of studies can be cross-sectional, providing a snapshot at a specific time point, or longitudinal, following participants over extended periods. Population-



based studies are particularly valuable, as they are designed to collect data from representative samples of the entire population to assess health behaviours, conditions, and access to healthcare.

The Nordic countries have established numerous comprehensive health studies, both individually and through collaborative efforts. Notable examples include the HUNT Study [*Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag*] (72) and the MoBa Study [*Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study*] (73) in Norway, the Healthy Finland survey (74) in Finland, the Reykjavík study (75) in Iceland. Together, the Nordic countries have also produced significant research initiatives, such as CoMorMent (76–79) and COVIDMENT (80,81). While national health registries excel at capturing health outcome such as mortality and disease occurrence, these research cohorts and surveys are essential for collecting data on health determinants that registries typically do not cover. (2)

Nordic health research cohorts and surveys offer several key advantages. They provide comprehensive data on a wide range of health topics, often conducted regularly, enabling researchers to track trends over time. A unique strength of Nordic health studies is their ability to be linked with national health registries using PINs, enhancing the depth and breadth of available health information. The longitudinal nature of many Nordic research cohorts offers valuable insights into health trajectories over time. (2)

However, Nordic health surveys also face certain challenges. As with all survey-based research, there is a risk of self-reporting bias, which can affect data accuracy. Additionally, conducting comprehensive population studies requires significant resources, both in terms of time and funding. (2) Nevertheless, these health studies remain fundamental to the Nordic regions' health ecosystem. When integrated with the extensive health registries and biobanks maintained by Nordic countries, their approach to health data collection has established the Nordic region as a leader in population health research, providing unique opportunities for understanding and improving public health outcomes.

## 3.5 Claims data

Claims data are administrative records generated from healthcare billing that can be used to study patterns of healthcare utilisation, costs, and outcomes across populations over time. (82) Claims data is available in all the Nordic countries; however, the nationwide health registries are more often used in research rather than the claims data. Utilising claims data more together with data from nationwide health registries and in collaboration within the Nordic countries could provide valuable information on utilisation of resources in healthcare and cost efficiency.

## 3.6 Clinical Trials

Clinical trials data represent a valuable but often considered underutilised resource for secondary use in health research. While clinical trials primarily generate new data to evaluate medical interventions, the resulting datasets can provide rich opportunities for secondary analysis, (83) particularly when combined with other Nordic health data sources.



The Nordic countries have experienced a concerning decline in the number of clinical trials over the past decade, with Denmark being a notable exception to this trend. From 2008 to 2018, there was approximately a 30% reduction in clinical trials conducted across the Nordic region. This decline stems from increased regulatory complexity, rising costs, and competition from regions with larger population bases for participant recruitment. (84)

This declining trend underscores the importance of both streamlining trial processes and better utilising existing trial data through secondary analysis. Currently, data from clinical trials is not used extensively in the Nordic countries for secondary use. However, according to the proposal for the EHDS regulation, clinical trial data is one of the categories of electronic data that shall be made available for secondary use. (85) In order to facilitate Nordic cooperation on clinical trials, the Nordic Trial Alliance was founded where the aim is to facilitate clinical research cooperation in the Nordic region and focus on multi-centre clinical trials. (1,86)

## 4 Challenges with Nordic cooperation

Despite the Nordic countries' reputation for having rich health datasets and a history of collaboration, several significant challenges hinder effective cooperation in the secondary use of health data. These challenges can be categorised into governance, legal and ethical, technical, and semantic issues.

## 4.1 Governance challenges

Cross-border collaboration among Nordic countries, while generally robust, can face challenges due to their governance differences. The varying levels of integration with the EU and EEA can create disparities in policy alignment, particularly in areas of trade, security, and foreign affairs. For instance, non-EU members like Norway and Iceland may have different regulatory frameworks or economic priorities compared to their EU-member counterparts. Despite these challenges, the long-standing tradition of Nordic cooperation, as exemplified by institutions like the Nordic Council, provides a strong foundation for overcoming these hurdles. (87) Additionally, the Nordic countries face similar structural challenges in health data management. Health data is typically decentralised, stored across multiple registries and systems managed by different controllers, and supervised by various authorities. This decentralisation, coupled with a lack of both standardisation and interoperability between systems, makes it difficult to obtain a comprehensive overview and access to all relevant data. (2,10) Consequently, this creates significant challenges for healthcare innovation and research. (2)

The primary challenges of decentralised systems include complex administrative processes, with multiple permissions often required from different authorities, and time-consuming application procedures, e.g. ethical review application or data protection agencies, that frequently necessitate guidance from independent third parties. This complexity increases costs and creates barriers to accessing health data. Furthermore, decentralised systems risk



valuable health data being overlooked or excluded from research and innovation projects, while varying quality and content standards across different sources complicate data utilisation. (2) However, there is a movement towards centralisation, particularly in health data management, where the aim is to combine centralised data management with decentralised local healthcare provision. Centralisation of data management will facilitate research, innovation, and cross-border collaboration in the Nordic region, as well as creating more efficient systems for data access and utilisation. (2)

Currently, researchers frequently face long delays and administrative hurdles when trying to access health data, which can impede research progress and innovation. This challenge is particularly acute when dealing with cross-border projects that must navigate multiple regulatory systems. (1,10,17,19) The extent of these delays varies significantly across Nordic countries, further complicating cross-border collaborations. In Denmark, there is an aim to provide individual-level data within 30 days on average, with initial feedback after three weeks. Finland's system, managed by Findata, appears relatively efficient, having processed over 860 applications since its establishment in 2019. (88) However, Norway faces more extended timelines, with access potentially taking up to a year after permit delivery, depending on requests complexity. (88,89) These disparities in approval times across Nordic countries create additional challenges for researchers planning multinational studies, as they must factor these varying timelines into their project planning. This situation further emphasises the need for harmonised and efficient approval processes across the Nordic region.

## 4.2 Legal and ethical challenges

Legal and regulatory fragmentation remains a key issue across the Nordic region. All Nordic countries permit the processing of personal health data for research purposes without explicit consent, as long as the research holds significant societal value. (10) However, the countries face complexities of cross-border data-sharing while adhering to strict privacy regulations. While the GDPR has brought some harmonisation, its implementation and interpretation varies within and across Nordic countries, creating complexity for cross-border projects. (2,10) This inconsistency is evident in the varying mandates and roles of ethics committees and data protection authorities between countries, leading to inconsistencies in approval processes for collaborative research projects. (10)

Ethical Review Authorities (ERAs) and Research Ethics Committees (RECs) play a crucial role in ensuring ethical and scientifically responsible research across the Nordic countries. However, their scope and authority differ significantly among nations. For instance, Danish RECs is only involved if research involves human subjects or certain bioinformatics projects, (10,90) while Norwegian RECs have a broader mandate covering research on humans, biological material, and health information. (10,91) Iceland takes an even more comprehensive approach with its National Bioethics Committee overseeing scientific health research in general. (10) Swedish ERAs have a broad mandate, requiring ethical review for studies involving physical interventions on living persons, methods affecting participants physically or mentally, research on traceable biological material, and processing of sensitive personal data or data related to criminal offences. (92) Finland's approach is similarly



comprehensive, mandating ethical review for research that deviates from informed consent principles, intervenes in participants' physical integrity, focuses on minors under 15 without proper consent, exposes participants to exceptionally strong stimuli, risks causing mental harm beyond normal daily life, or could threaten the safety of participants, researchers, or their close associates. (93) These differences in REC scope and authority can lead to inconsistent approval processes for cross-border research projects, adding another layer of complexity of Nordic collaboration efforts. (10)

A key ethical dilemma arises with broad consent forms, where individuals agree to the use of their health data for unspecified future research projects. At the time of consent, participants can only be given general information about data storage, security measures, and typical research scenarios, rather than specifics about individual projects that have not yet been conceived. (94) This lack of specificity raises questions about the validity of such consent. Some ethicists argue that truly informed consent requires knowledge of what one is consenting to, which leads some to question whether broad consent can legitimately be called informed consent at all. This creates tension between researchers' need for flexibility and the ethical principle of informed consent, which ideally requires specific information about data use. (94) Dynamic consent has been proposed as a potential solution to this dilemma. Dynamic consent allows participants to make ongoing, granular decisions about their data use through an interactive digital interface, enabling them to update their preferences over time as new research opportunities arise. (95) This type of consent facilitates study-specific consent through a web-based platform, potentially maintaining informational selfdetermination while easing the burden on researchers and participants. (94) However, while dynamic consent offers more flexible and ongoing consent processes, it is not definitely declared as a complete resolution to all ethical challenges associated with future data use. It is presented as one of several proposed solutions, with the suggestion that digital tools and platforms might improve patient information and consent management. (94) As data sharing becomes more prevalent, there is an increased risk of privacy breaches and potential misuse of sensitive health information. Balancing the advancement of medical research with the protection of participants' rights and autonomy remains a key challenge in health data research. More research is needed to determine the most effective and ethically sound approaches to consent in this field. (94)

Further complicating the legal landscape are country-specific restrictions and regulatory gaps. Some countries, such as Denmark and Finland, have extensive legal restrictions on transferring data out of the country, which can complicate joint studies. Additionally, most Nordic countries lack innovation-specific regulation, with Finland being a notable exception. (2) This absence of tailored legislation means that innovators often have to rely on consent or attempt to fit their projects under exceptions meant for scientific research. (2)

The combination of varying REC mandates, inconsistent GDPR implementation, country specific data transfer restrictions, and the lack of innovation-specific regulation creates a complex legal environment for cross-border health data research in the Nordic region. This fragmentation poses significant challenges for collaborative projects, potentially hindering the full utilisation of the comprehensive health datasets available across these countries. Addressing these legal challenges will be crucial for enhancing Nordic cooperation in health



data research and unlocking the full potential of the region's valuable health information resources.

## 4.3 Technical challenges

What is often described as a major challenge when it comes to data exchange is the decentralised governance of digital infrastructure in several of the Nordic countries. The result is a fragmented ecosystem characterised by insufficient interoperability on national level, consequently creating even worse preconditions for cross-border interoperability. This governance-driven fragmentation manifests in the technical realm, where health data is often scattered across different institutions and systems, compounded by a lack of standardisation in data formats and technical systems, which hampers interoperability between countries. (1,19)

To address these challenges, implementing FAIR principles (Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, and Reuseable) has become increasingly important. The status of FAIR implementation varies significantly across the Nordic countries and data domains, with health registers and socioeconomic registers being the most advanced. Key barriers include inconsistent metadata standards, lack of common clinical terminology, and limited use of persistent identifiers for data resources. (1)

Although most Nordic countries have developed their own national data ecosystem, e.g. Helsedata (53) and Forskermaskinen, (10) there is a clear need for a common Nordic foundation for health data-linkage and analysing of health data. Technical standards and operational procedures are crucial for enabling seamless data sharing and analysis across the region. (1,19) Establishing a harmonised Nordic standardised metadata framework and implementing a unified catalogue with integrated search interfaces would enable researchers to efficiently discover and assess available health data across Nordic countries. This standardisation of metadata and development of common clinical language across domains would significantly advance FAIR compliance and facilitate more efficient cross-border research collaboration. (1)

The possibilities and opportunities of utilising existing Nordic infrastructure collaborations with a broad science focus, such as the Nordic e-Infrastructure Collaboration (NEiC), (96) and exploring their experiences of health domain projects (97) is also an area where meaningful synergies could be identified.

## 4.4 Summary of challenges

Addressing these multifaceted challenges will require continued efforts to align policies, standardised processes, improved infrastructure, and build public trust across the Nordic region. Increased transparency, clearer regulations, and more regional coordination are potential ways forward in enhancing Nordic cooperation on secondary use of health data. By tackling these legal, technical, ethical, and practical obstacles, the Nordic countries can unlock the full potential of their rich health data resources, fostering innovation and improving health outcomes across the region.



# 5 Value From Nordic Health Data: Future work

The Nordic countries stand in a unique position to lead the way in maximising the value of health data for research, innovation, and improved healthcare outcomes. With a combined population of 27 million people, comprehensive health registries dating back decades, and high levels of public trust, the Nordic region possesses distinct advantages that set it apart in the global health data landscape.

The introduction of the EHDS regulation presents both new responsibilities and opportunities. While the regulation mandates new responsibilities for cross-border health data sharing, it also provides momentum for transformative change in how health data is managed and utilised across borders. The VALO project serves as a crucial stepping stone toward future Nordic collaboration and data exchange, helping prepare the region for EHDS implementation while strengthening existing cooperative frameworks.

The Nordic countries' position at the forefront of digitalisation and innovation capacity provides a strong foundation for this transformation. If health data from across the Nordic countries could be made accessible for secondary use in an efficient yet secure way, it would significantly advance medical research, particularly for rare diseases requiring larger population samples, drive healthcare innovation through public-private partnerships, and enable evidence-based policymaking using comprehensive, high-quality data.

However, realising these opportunities requires addressing several key challenges in harmonising legal frameworks, developing interoperable technical solutions, streamlining governance processes, and establishing sustainable funding models for shared infrastructure.

By continuing to invest in shared solutions and maintaining commitment to cooperation, the Nordic countries are well-positioned to lead the next wave of healthcare advancement through effective utilisation of health data. This leadership role not only benefits the Nordic populations but also sets a valuable example for international collaboration in the evolving landscape of digital health.



# References

- 1. Nilsson M. A vision of a Nordic secure digital infrastructure for health data: The Nordic Commons [Internet]. Oslo: NordForsk; 2019 Dec [cited 2024 Jun 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.nordforsk.org/2019/vision-nordic-secure-digital-infrastructure-health-data-nordic-commons</u>
- 2. Bridging Nordic Data [Internet]. Oslo: Nordic Innovation; 2022 Sep [cited 2024 Jun 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.nordicinnovation.org/2022/bridging-nordic-data</u>
- 3. European Commission [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Aug 8]. Data protection in the EU. Available from: <u>https://commission.europa.eu/law/law-topic/data-protection/data-protection-eu\_en</u>
- 4. European Data Protection Supervisor [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Aug 8]. The History of the General Data Protection Regulation. Available from: <u>https://www.edps.europa.eu/data-protection/data-protection/legislation/history-general-data-protection-regulation\_en</u>
- 5. GDPR.EU [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2024 Jul 3]. What is GDPR, the EU's new data protection law? Available from: <u>https://gdpr.eu/what-is-gdpr/</u>
- Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) (Text with EEA relevance) [Internet]. Vol. 2016/679. 2016. Available from: http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj
- Ministry of Justice and Public Security. Act on the Processing of Personal Data (Personal Data Act) [Internet]. Sect. 1. Incorporation of the General Data Protection Regulation Jul 29, 2018. Available from: <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NLE/lov/2018-06-15-38</u>
- 8. The Icelandic Data Protection Authority. Act on Data Protection and the Processing of Personal Data [Internet]. Sect. 1, Art. 2 Jun 27, 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.personuvernd.is/information-in-english/nr/436</u>
- 9. Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the council on the European Health Data Space [Internet]. Mar 5, 2022. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/publications/proposal-regulation-european-health-data-space\_en</u>
- Cathaoir KÓ, Gunnarsdóttir HD, Hartlev M. The journey of research data: Accessing nordic health data for the purposes of developing an algorithm. Med Law Int. 2022;22(1):52–74. doi: 10.1177/09685332211046179
- 11. Clarke N, Vale G, Reeves EP, Kirwan M, Smith D, Farrell M, et al. GDPR: an impediment to research? Ir J Med Sci. 2019;188(4):1129–35. doi: 10.1007/s11845-019-01980-2
- 12. Sitra [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jul 3]. Second joint action Towards the European Health Data Space TEHDAS2. Available from: <u>https://www.sitra.fi/en/projects/tehdas2-joint-action/</u>
- Commission Staff Working Document Impact Assessment Report Accompanying the Document Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European Health Data Space {COM(2022) 197 final} - {SEC(2022) 196 final} - {SWD(2022)



14. Sorensen HT, Sabroe S, Olsen J. A framework for evaluation of secondary data sources for epidemiological research. Int J Epidemiol. 1996;25(2):435–42. doi: 10.1093/ije/25.2.435

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52022SC0131

- 15. European Commission [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Jul 3]. European Health Data Space. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/ehealth-digital-health-and-care/european-health-data-space\_en</u>
- 16. Sitra [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 31]. Value from Nordic health data VALO. Available from: <u>https://www.sitra.fi/en/projects/value-from-nordic-health-data-valo/</u>
- 17. Nordic perspectives on research impact [Internet]. Oslo: NordForsk; 2024 Apr [cited 2024 Jun 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.nordforsk.org/2024/nordic-perspectives-research-impact</u>
- WORLD BANK GROUP [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 11]. World Development Indicators | DataBank. Available from: https://databank.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL/1ff4a498/Popular-Indicators
- Laugesen K, Ludvigsson JF, Schmidt M, Gissler M, Valdimarsdottir UA, Lunde A, et al. Nordic Health Registry-Based Research: A Review of Health Care Systems and Key Registries. Clin Epidemiol. 2021;Volume 13:533–54. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S314959
- Seehuus R, Täkte C, Kuivaniemi E, Karlsen JC, Linder L, Schrode M, et al. The Nordic AI and data ecosystem 2022 [Internet]. Oslo: Nordic Innovation; 2022 [cited 2024 Sep 20]. Available from: <u>https://www.nordicinnovation.org/2022/nordic-ai-and-data-ecosystem</u>
- 21. Birk HO, Vrangbæk K, Rudkjøbing A, Krasnik A, Eriksen A, Richardson E, et al. Denmark: Health System Review 2024. Eur Obs Health Syst Policies. 2024;26(1):1–152.
- 22. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Oct 31]. National service reform: Reform of the content and operating methods of health and social services. Available from: <u>https://stm.fi/en/national-service-reform</u>
- 23. Kanta [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Oct 31]. What are the Kanta Services? Available from: https://www.kanta.fi/en/what-are-kanta-services
- 24. Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 31]. Statistics and data. Available from: <u>https://thl.fi/en/statistics-and-data</u>
- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Secondary use of health and social data [Internet]. 552/2019 May 1, 2022. Available from: <u>https://stm.fi/en/secondary-use-of-health-and-social-data</u>
- 26. Nordic Innovation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 28]. Applied Ethical AI on Nordic Patient Records. Available from: <u>https://www.nordicinnovation.org/programs/applied-ethical-ai-nordic-patient-records</u>
- 27. Nordic Innovation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 28]. AI and Data. Available from: https://www.nordicinnovation.org/programs/ai-and-data



- Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) (Text with EEA relevance) [Internet]. Vol. 2016/679. 2016. Available from: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj</u>
- 29. Nordic co-operation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Danish civil registration number (CPR number) | Nordic cooperation. Available from: <u>https://www.norden.org/en/info-norden/danish-civil-registration-number-cpr-number</u>
- 30. Nordic co-operation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Swedish personal identity number | Nordic cooperation. Available from: <u>https://www.norden.org/en/info-norden/swedish-personal-identity-number</u>
- 31. History Hans Högman [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Swedish Personal Identity Numbers / Personnummer. Available from: <u>http://www.hhogman.se/personal-identity-numbers.htm</u>
- 32. The Norwegian Tax Administration [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 24]. National identity numbers. Available from: <u>https://www.skatteetaten.no/en/person/national-registry/identitetsnummer/fodselsnummer/</u>
- 33. Registers Iceland [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Identification number kennitala. Available from: <u>https://www.skra.is/english/people/my-registration/id-numbers/</u>
- 34. Nordic co-operation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Personal identity code in Finland. Available from: <u>https://www.norden.org/en/info-norden/personal-identity-code-finland</u>
- Alastalo M, Helén I. A code for care and control: The PIN as an operator of interoperability in the Nordic welfare state. Hist Hum Sci. 2022;35(1):242–65. doi: 10.1177/09526951211017731
- 36. Andreassen OA. eHealth provides a novel opportunity to exploit the advantages of the Nordic countries in psychiatric genetic research, building on the public health care system, biobanks, and registries. Am J Med Genet Part B Neuropsychiatr Genet Off Publ Int Soc Psychiatr Genet. 2018 Oct;177(7):625–9. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32561
- Nordic health 2030 From what to how [Internet]. Copenhagen: Copenhagen Institute for Futures Studies; 2024 [cited 2024 Jun 24]. Available from: <u>https://cifs.dk/nordic-health-2030download</u>
- Attitudes towards the Impact of Digitalisation on Daily Lives [Internet]. European Commission; 2020 [cited 2024 Sep 6]. (Digitalisation in our Daily Lives). Available from: <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2228</u>
- Sturkenboom M, Schink T, editors. Databases for Pharmacoepidemiological Research [Internet]. 1st ed. Switzerland: Springer Cham; 2021 [cited 2024 Jul 1]. 280 p. (Springer Series on Epidemiology and Public Health). doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-51455-6 Available from: <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-51455-6</u>



- 40. NHTA Global Market Access [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 23]. National Hospital Medication Register Sygehusmedicinregistret (SMR). Available from: <u>https://nhta.com/national-hospital-medication-register/</u>
- 41. SUNDHEDSDATASTYRELESEN [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Oct 21]. Sygehusmedicinregisteret (SMR). Available from: <u>https://sundhedsdatastyrelsen.dk/da/registre-og-services/om-de-nationale-</u> <u>sundhedsregistre/sygdomme-laegemidler-og-behandlinger/sygehusmedicinregisteret</u>
- 42. Assessing the value of diabetes clinical research [Internet]. Denmark: Novo Nordisk; n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 30]. Available from: <u>https://www.novonordisk.com/content/dam/Denmark/HQ/sustainablebusiness/performance-on-tbl/more-about-how-we-work/Creating%20shared%20value/PDF/blueprint-diabetes-clinical-research.pdf</u>
- 43. JENDROSSEK M, XAYAKHOMDAUVERGNE O, ZIDI I. Milestone 5.4 Description of steps in accessing individual-level data for national and EU researchers in a selection of centralised systems and decentralised systems [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2024 Aug 27]. Available from: <u>https://tehdas.eu/app/uploads/2022/04/tehdas-report-description-of-steps-in-accessing-individual-level-data-for-national-and-eu-researchers-in-a-selection-of-centralised-systems-and-decentralised-systems.pdf</u>
- Lähteenmäki J, Vuorinen AL, Pajula J, Harno K, Lehto M, Niemi M, et al. Integrating data from multiple Finnish biobanks and national health-care registers for retrospective studies: Practical experiences. Scand J Public Health. 2022;50(4):482–9. doi: 10.1177/14034948211004421
- 45. Data resources catalogue [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Jan 11]. Data resources catalogue Data resource descriptions from one location. Available from: <u>https://aineistokatalogi.fi/catalog</u>
- 46. FINDATA Social and Health Permit Authority [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Jan 11]. Regulation on data descriptions. Available from: <u>https://findata.fi/en/data/regulation-on-data-descriptions/</u>
- 47. Julkunen V, Schwarz C, Kalapudas J, Hallikainen M, Piironen AK, Mannermaa A, et al. A FinnGen pilot clinical recall study for Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep. 2023 Aug 3;13(1):12641. doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-39835-7
- 48. Vuoksimaa E, Saari TT, Aaltonen A, Aaltonen S, Herukka SK, Iso-Markku P, et al. TWINGEN: protocol for an observational clinical biobank recall and biomarker cohort study to identify Finnish individuals with high risk of Alzheimer's disease. BMJ Open. 2024 Jun;14(6):e081947. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-081947
- 49. Medical Director of Health and Public Health Act [Internet]. 41/2007. Sect. II [Monitoring of health services.] Jan 9, 2007. Available from: <u>https://www.government.is/publications/legislation/lex/2009/09/24/Medical-Director-of-Health-and-Public-Health-Act-No.-41-2007/</u>
- 50. island.is [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 30]. The Directorate of Health's Health Registers | Purpose of the Health Registers. Available from: <u>https://island.is/en/gagnasofn-embaettis-landlaeknis/purpose</u>



- Ebenesersdóttir SS, Sandoval-Velasco M, Gunnarsdóttir ED, Jagadeesan A, Guðmundsdóttir VB, Thordardóttir EL, et al. Ancient genomes from Iceland reveal the making of a human population. Science. 2018;360(6392):1028–32. doi: 10.1126/science.aar2625
- 52. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Forskrift om nasjonal løsning for tilgjengeliggjøring av helsedata [Internet]. Nov 1, 2023. Available from: <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2023-01-11-48</u>
- 53. The Institute of Public Health. helsedata. n.d. [cited 2024 Sep 24]. About helsedata.no. Available from: <u>https://helsedata.no/no/om-helsedata/</u>
- Norsk helsenett [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Sep 24]. About Norsk helsenett Connecting Norwegian Health Services. Available from: <u>https://www.nhn.no/om-oss/about-us-connecting-norwegian-health-services</u>
- 55. Nationella Kvalitetsregister [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Aug 27]. Quality registries. Available from: <u>https://skr.se/en/kvalitetsregister/omnationellakvalitetsregister.52218.html</u>
- 56. Karolinska Instetutet [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Jan 11]. The Swedish Twin Registry. Available from: <u>https://ki.se/en/research/research-infrastructure-and-environments/core-facilities-for-research/the-swedish-twin-registry</u>
- 57. Karolinska Instetutet [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Jan 11]. LifeGene. Available from: https://ki.se/en/research/research-infrastructure-and-environments/core-facilities-forresearch/ki-biobank-core-facility-kibb/what-is-lifegene
- 58. Publicity and Privacy Act [Internet]. SFS 2009:400. Available from: <u>https://www.government.se/information-material/2009/09/public-access-to-information-and-secrecy-act/</u>
- 59. Thacher JD, Oudin A, Flanagan E, Mattisson K, Albin M, Roswall N, et al. Exposure to longterm source-specific transportation noise and incident breast cancer: A pooled study of eight Nordic cohorts. Environ Int. 2023;178:108108. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2023.108108
- 60. Furu K, Wettermark B, Andersen M, Martikainen JE, Almarsdottir AB, Sørensen HT. The Nordic Countries as a Cohort for Pharmacoepidemiological Research. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2010 Feb 1;106(2):86–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2009.00494.x
- 61. Smith Jervelund S, De Montgomery CJ. Nordic registry data: value, validity and future. Scand J Public Health. 2020;48(1):1–4. doi: 10.1177/1403494819898573
- Moraia LB, Kaye J, Tasse AM, Knoppers BM, Mitchell C, Soini S, et al. A comparative analysis of the requirements for the use of data in biobanks based in Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Norway and the United Kingdom. Med Law Int. 2014;14(4):187–212. doi: 10.1177/0968533215571956
- Laugesen K, Mengel-From J, Christensen K, Olsen JH, Hougaard DM, Boding L, et al. A Review of Major Danish Biobanks: Advantages and Possibilities of Health Research in Denmark. Clin Epidemiol. 2023;15:213–39. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S392416



- 64. Kinkorová J, Topolčan O. Biobanks in the era of big data: objectives, challenges, perspectives, and innovations for predictive, preventive, and personalised medicine. EPMA J. 2020;11(3):333–41. doi: 10.1007/s13167-020-00213-2
- 65. Kurki MI, Karjalainen J, Palta P, Sipilä TP, Kristiansson K, Donner KM, et al. FinnGen provides genetic insights from a well-phenotyped isolated population. Nature. 2023 Jan 1;613(7944):508–18. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-05473-8
- 66. MASCHER K (TINA) L, EKMAN GJ, BARTELS PD, BORRE M, VUORI A, HÄKINEN U, et al. GUIDE FOR INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH ON PATIENT QUALITY REGISTRIES IN THE NORDIC COUNTRIES [Internet]. Norway: Nasjonalt Servicemiljø For Medisinske Kvalitetsregistre; 2016 [cited 2024 Oct 18]. Available from: <u>https://www.kvalitetsregistre.no/sites/default/files/nordicguidancedocument\_quality\_registries\_final\_for\_web.pdf</u>
- 67. Kunskapsstyrning hälso- och sjukvård [Knowledge management health care] [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Oct 21]. Nationella kvalitetsregister [National quality registers]. Available from: https://kunskapsstyrningvard.se/kunskapsstyrningvard/kvalitetsregister.66155.html
- 68. UCR [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 21]. National quality registries. Available from: https://www.ucr.uu.se/en/services/quality-registry-center/national-quality-registries
- 69. RKKP regionernes kliniske kvalitetudviklingsprogram [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 21]. RKKP regionernes kliniske kvalitetudviklingsprogram. Available from: <u>https://www.rkkp.dk/in-english/</u>
- 70. Nasjonalt servicemiljø for medisinske kvalitetsregistre [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 21]. About Center on patient-reported outcomes data. Available from: <u>https://www.kvalitetsregistre.no/artikkel/information-english</u>
- 71. BCB Medical [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2024 Oct 22]. The new quality register regulation ensures the long-term development of national quality registers. Available from: https://bcbmedical.com/the\_new\_national-quality-register-regulation/
- 72. NTNU [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 18]. The HUNT Study a longitudinal population health study in Norway. Available from: <u>https://www.ntnu.edu/hunt</u>
- 73. Norwegian Institute of Public Health [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 30]. Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). Available from: <u>https://www.fhi.no/en/ch/studies/moba/</u>
- 74. Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Oct 31]. About the survey. Available from: <u>https://thl.fi/en/research-and-development/research-and-projects/healthy-finland-survey/about-the-survey</u>
- 75. Hjartavernd [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 31]. The Reykjavík Study. Available from: https://hjarta.is/en/research/reykjavikurrannsokn/
- 76. Andreassen OA, Seierstad M. CoMorMent Investigating comorbid mental ill-health & cardiovascular disease. n.d. [cited 2024 Jan 8]. CoMorMent. Available from: https://www.comorment.uio.no/about/



- 31
- Shen Q, Song H, Aspelund T, Yu J, Lu D, Jakobsdóttir J, et al. Cardiovascular disease and subsequent risk of psychiatric disorders: a nationwide sibling-controlled study. eLife. 2022;11:e80143. doi: 10.7554/eLife.80143
- 78. Han X, Hou C, Yang H, Chen W, Ying Z, Hu Y, et al. Disease trajectories and mortality among individuals diagnosed with depression: a community-based cohort study in UK Biobank. Mol Psychiatry. 2021;26(11):6736–46. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01170-6
- 79. Lynch R, Aspelund T, Kormáksson M, Flores-Torres MH, Hauksdóttir A, Arnberg FK, et al. Lifetime exposure to violence and other life stressors and hair cortisol concentration in women. Stress. 2022;25(1):48–56. doi: 10.1080/10253890.2021.2011204
- Unnarsdóttir AB, Lovik A, Fawns-Ritchie C, Ask H, Kõiv K, Hagen K, et al. Cohort Profile: COVIDMENT: COVID-19 cohorts on mental health across six nations. Int J Epidemiol. 2022;51(3):e108–22. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyab234
- Magnúsdóttir I, Lovik A, Unnarsdóttir AB, McCartney D, Ask H, Kõiv K, et al. Acute COVID-19 severity and mental health morbidity trajectories in patient populations of six nations: an observational study. Lancet Public Health. 2022;7(5):e406–16. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(22)00042-1
- Chan Leighton, McGarey Patrick. Using Large Datasets for Population-based Health Research. In: Gallin JI, Ognibene FP, editors. Principles and Practice of Clinical Research [Internet]. 3rd ed. Maryland: Elsevier; 2012 [cited 2024 Oct 18]. p. 371–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B978012382167600028X
- Ohmann C, Moher D, Siebert M, Motschall E, Naudet F. Status, use and impact of sharing individual participant data from clinical trials: a scoping review. BMJ Open. 2021;11(e049228). doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2021-049228
- Nordic Trial Alliance Working Group on Ethics. Report on the Ethical Review Process for Clinical Trials in the Nordic Countries [Internet]. Nordforsk; 2016 [cited 2024 Oct 31]. Available from: <u>https://www.nordictrialalliance.org/publications/</u>
- 85. Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the council on the European Health Data Space [Internet]. Sect. 33 Mar 5, 2022. Available from: <u>https://health.ec.europa.eu/publications/proposal-regulation-european-health-data-space\_en</u>
- 86. Nordic Trial Alliance [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 25]. About NTA. Available from: https://www.nordictrialalliance.org/about-2/
- 87. Nordic co-operation [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Sep 12]. Politics. Available from: <u>https://www.norden.org/en/information/politics#:~:text=All%20the%20countries%20in%20the,</u> <u>common%20in%20the%20Nordic%20Region.</u>
- 88. HealthData@EU Pilot identifies common elements for health data access and data use within the legal frameworks of the participating nodes [Internet]. HealthData@EU Pilot; 2023 [cited 2024 Sep 12]. Available from: <u>https://ehds2pilot.eu/news/healthdataeu-pilot-identifies-</u> <u>common-elements-for-health-data-access-and-data-use-within-the-legal-frameworks-of-theparticipating-nodes/</u>



- 89. Act on health registers and processing of health information (Health Registers Act) [Internet]. No. 43/2014. Sect. § 19 f., ACT-2014-06-20-43 Jun 20, 2014. Available from: https://lovdata.no/lov/2014-06-20-43/§19f
- 90. Act on a scientific ethics committee system and treatment of biomedical research projects [Internet]. ACT no. 503 of 24/06/1992 1992. Available from: https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/lta/1992/503
- 91. Act on medical and health-related research (health research act) [Internet]. Sect. § 2. The Act's factual scope, ACT-2008-06-20-44 Jan 7, 2009. Available from: https://lovdata.no/lov/2008-06-20-44/§2
- 92. Etikprovnings myndigheten [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Aug 19]. What the Act says. Available from: <u>https://etikprovningsmyndigheten.se/en/what-the-act-says/</u>
- 93. Finnish National Board On Research Integrity Tenk [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Aug 19]. Ethical review in human sciences. Available from: <u>https://tenk.fi/en/ethical-review/ethical-review/ethical-review-human-sciences</u>
- 94. Wiertz S, Boldt J. Ethical, Legal, and Practical Concerns Surrounding the Implemention of New Forms of Consent for Health Data Research: Qualitative Interview Study. J Med Internet Res. 2024;26:e52180. doi: 10.2196/52180
- Prictor M, Lewis MA, Newson AJ, Haas M, Baba S, Kim H, et al. Dynamic Consent: An Evaluation and Reporting Framework. J Empir Res Hum Res Ethics. 2020;15(3):175–86. doi: 10.1177/1556264619887073
- 96. neic [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 31]. WHAT IS NEIC? Available from: https://neic.no/about/
- 97. neic [Internet]. n.d. [cited 2024 Oct 31]. HEILSA TRYGGVEDOTTIR. Available from: https://neic.no/heilsa/